IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 94-20464

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

M CHAEL PARKS, JULI AN MOSS, AND CHARLES M CHAEL O NEAL,
Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas

(CR H 92- 244)

Oct ober 26, 1995
Bef ore KING and JONES, Circuit Judges, and KAZEN, District Judge.”
KAZEN, District Judge:

Def endants M chael Parks, Julian Mss, and Charles M chael
O Neal were charged with conspiring to msapply funds from a
federally insured financial institution and to nake false entries
in the books and records of the institution in violation of 18
U S C 8371 (Count One); msapplication of funds, in violation of
18 U. S.C. 8657 (Count Two); and meking false entries in the books

and records of the institution, in violation of 18 U S.C. 81006

District Judge for the Southern District of Texas, sitting
by desi gnati on.



(Count Three). Al three Defendants were convicted on Counts One
and Two. Moss and O Neal were convicted on Count Three, but Parks
was acquitted. All Defendants have appeal ed. First, they
challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support their
convi cti ons. Second, they claimthat the trial court commtted
reversible error in admtting testinony concerning civil banking
regul ations. Third, they claimthat pre-indictnent delay viol ated

their Fifth Arendnent due process rights. W affirm

l.
BACKGROUND

At the tinme of the transaction in question, Defendants Parks
and Moss were the named shareholders in a Houston law firm Both
were instrunmental in establishing a federally insured savings and
|l oan, Village Savings Association ("Village"), which becane a
client of the firm |In addition to being investors in and counse
for Village, Parks served as Chairman of the Board and Myss as
Secretary to the Board. Defendant O Neal, who was not affiliated
wth the law firm served as the President of Village.

Also anong the law firms clients was a Canadi an condon ni um
devel oper, Len Cassack ("Cassack"), and his joint venture, West
Caks Devel opnent 100 ("WOD'). As was customary at the tine to
qualify for devel opnent | oans, Cassack recruited i nvestors to sign
earnest-noney contracts ("pre-developnent contracts”) to buy
unbui It condom niumunits at a discount price. |f Cassack sold the

unit at a higher price prior to conpletion, the pre-devel opnment
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i nvestor would keep the profit. If no buyer was found, the
i nvestor woul d be required to purchase the unit under the terns of
the pre-devel opnent contract. |In the late 1970's, Parks and Moss,
t hrough an i nvest nent partnership known as Parks and Moss ||l (" P&M
I1"), signed pre-devel opnent contracts for two units in Cassack's
Briar Holl ow project. As contenplated, the Briar Hollow units
| ater were sold by Cassack, and P&M I | nade a profit.

In 1981, Cassack approached Parks and Miss with a simlar
i nvestment opportunity in a different devel opnent. Along wth
three partners in the law firnt, Parks and Mss forned an
i nvestment group called Parks and Mdss Il ("P& 111"), which
signed two pre-developnment contracts for condom nium units in
Cassack's Park Square project. Prior to conpletion, Cassack sold
one unit but could not find a buyer for the second unit ("Unit
802"). I n Novenber 1981, P&MI11 was required to purchase Unit 802
at the pre-devel opnent contract price of $223,448.00. Sever al
years later, Village agreed to buy Unit 802. On August 31, 1984,
P&M 111 transferred the title to Cassack's WD, whi ch

sinmul taneously transferred title to Village. WOD received nothing

for its participation in the transfer. Village's noney was
di sbursed by the title conpany, partly to pay off P&M IIl's
nort gage and the bal ance going to P&M 11| as profit.

In Decenber of 1985, the participation of P& |1l in the

transaction cane to the attention of Village's Board of Directors.

Recogni zing potenti al regulatory violations due to Parks'

! Frank Ban, George Banberg and Jerry Schut za.
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i nvol venent, the board initiated an internal investigation. Parks
and Mbdss were asked to resign in early 1986. A subsequent
i nvestigation by the Federal Honme Loan Bank Board (FHLBB) resulted
in an indictnment against the Defendants on Cctober 13, 1992.
1.
| NSUFFI CI ENCY OF THE EVI DENCE

Al'l Defendants chal |l enge the sufficiency of the evidence on
all of their convictions. "In reviewing a verdict challenged on
the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court views the evidence,
whet her direct or circunstantial, and all reasonable inferences
drawn fromthe evidence, in the light nost favorable to the jury's
verdict ... [to] determ ne whether "a rational trier of fact could
have found that the evidence established the essential elenents of
the of fense beyond a reasonable doubt'." United States v. WIlIis,
6 F.3d 257, 264 (5th Cr. 1993) (citations omtted).

A. M sappli cati on of Funds

To establish m sapplication of funds in violation of 18 U S. C
8657, the governnent nust show (1) that the savings and | oan
institution was authorized under the aws of the United States; (2)
that the accused was an officer, director, agent or enpl oyee of the
institution; (3) that the accused knowingly and wllfully
m sapplied the nonies or funds of the institution; and (4) that the
accused acted with intent to injure or defraud the institution
See United States v. Tullos, 868 F.2d 689, 693 (5th CGr.), cert.
denied, 490 U S 1112 (1989).



| nt ent

Al |l Defendants dispute the sufficiency of the evidence on the
intent elenment. Intent "is proven by showi ng a know ng, voluntary
act by the defendant, the natural tendency of which nmay have been
to injure the bank even though such may not have been his notive."
United States v. Parekh, 926 F.2d 402, 408 (5th Cr. 1991)
(citation omtted). Intent may be shown by direct or
circunstantial evidence that allows an inference of an unlaw ul
i ntent. United States v. Aggarwal, 17 F.3d 737, 740 (5th Gr.
1994) .

Moss' secretary, Patricia Wellborn, testified that Mss and
O Neal arranged the transfer of Unit 802 to Village, through WOD,
in order to avoid drawing the auditors' attention to Parks
participation. According to Wellborn, O Neal told Mss that
auditors and regulators m ght question why Village was buying a
condomniumfrom P&W I Il at the price in question, and that there
woul d be "l ess questions asked" if Unit 802 were not sold by P&M
1l "directly" to Village. There was al so evidence fromwhich the
jury could infer that O Neal was famliar with applicabl e banking
regul ati ons, but neverthel ess conpleted the transaction w thout
seeki ng approval fromhis board or fromthe FHLBB. The Defendants
stoutly maintain that Unit 802 was worth the purchase price of
$300, 000. 00. However, there was evidence from which a reasonabl e
jury could find that the market for condom ni uns was poor in 1984,
that no unit of conparabl e size had sold for $300, 000. 00 t hat year,

and that Unit 802 woul d not have been worth the purchase price on
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the open market. The evidence would also allow a reasonable jury
to reject ONeal's contention that Unit 802 was a good i nvestnent
for resale by Village or that it was useful to house out-of-town
custoners and i nvestors. |Indeed, Village still owned Unit 802 sone
16 nonths after the purchase, and the unit was unfurnished and
apparent |y unused.

Causati on

Par ks and Moss contend that there was insufficient evidence to
show that they caused any m sapplication of funds. In United
States v. Rochester, 898 F.2d 971, 978 (5th Cr. 1990), we found it
unnecessary to decide if the causation standard applicable to a
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8656 should simlarly apply to a violation
of 18 U.S.C. 8657. The two sections are virtually identical except
that one applies to banks and the other to savings and | oan
associ ati ons. W now hold that the same standard should apply
under both statutes.

In United States v. MCright, 821 F.2d 226, 230 (5th Cr.
1987), cert. denied, 484 U. S. 1005 (1988), we said that "[m anifest
in the use of the term 'msapply’ is a requirenent that the
def endant nmade, or influenced in a significant way, as an officer
of the bank, the decision to extend the loan.” MCright involved
a bank | oan nmade to a corporation for devel opnent of a golf course
and country club. The defendant, a bank officer, had a personal
financial interest in the corporation which was conceal ed fromthe
bank. He was not, however, the | oan of ficer who approved the | oan,

and the of ficer who did approve the | oan apparently had no cri m nal
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know edge or intent. W held that 8656 required not nerely that a
def endant stood to benefit fromthe | oan but that he authorized or
caused it to be authorized. | nvoki ng McCright, Parks and Moss
contend that at nost they only benefitted froma | oan which they
nei t her authorized nor caused.

Thi s argunent ignores the theory of aiding and abetting, which
isinplicit inall indictnents for substantive of fenses. Jacobs v.
Scott, 31 F.3d 1319, 1329 (5th Gr. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. C
711 (1995). The instant indictnent cited both the substantive
statutes and 18 U. S.C. 82. The trial judge also charged the jury
on ai ding and abetting. Under this theory, the governnment need not
show t hat Parks and Moss were guilty of every el enent of the crine.
See Parekh, 926 F.2d at 407. Unlike the situation in McCright, the
present case involved three Defendants acting in concert to
acconplish the m sapplication of funds. Thus, the governnent need
only show that the Defendants willfully associ ated thensel ves with
and participated in a crimnal venture, seeking to make the venture
succeed, and that each el enent of the offense was conmtted by sone
party to the venture. See United States v. Beuttenmuller, 29 F. 3d
973, 981-82 (5th Cir. 1994). 1In this case, there is evidence that
O Neal actually caused the |oan to be nade. The testinony of
Patricia Wellborn was sufficient to support a finding that Mbss
W llfully associated hinself with ONeal in the crimnal venture
and sought to nmake that venture succeed through his directions to
his own secretary.

Al t hough the evi dence of Parks' role in the venture is not as
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direct, the evidence showed that Parks was a founder of Village,
the chairman of its Board of Directors, and a nenber of its
Executive Comnmttee. Parks and Moss were also majority owners of
P&M 111, each holding approximately a 40% interest. That
partnership had owned Unit 802 for three years and had been unabl e
to sell it. It was becomng a financial drain and the partners
were eager to sell. Prior tothe ultinmate sale of Unit 802, Parks
and Moss had advised their fellowinvestors that the unit was goi ng
to be purchased by Vill age, al though the Board of Directors had not
been apprised of that circunstance. When the transaction was
actual ly consunmat ed, however, Parks and Mbss signed a deed to WOD
rather than to Vill age. The follow ng year, when confronted by
anot her nenber of the Board of Directors, Parks initially stated
that he was unaware that Village had purchased Unit 802.

Par ks suggests that his acquittal on Count Three, the false
entry count, should inpact the Court's sufficiency analysis wth
regard to Counts One and Two. This argunent is without nerit as it
is well established that juries are entitled to render inconsistent
verdi cts. United States v. Powell, 469 U S. 57, 64-65 (1984).
| ndeed, this Court has held that "a not guilty verdict on one count
does not establish any facts favorable to the defense for the
purpose of determning the sufficiency of the evidence on the
counts of conviction." United States v. Nguyen, 28 F.3d 477, 480
(5th Cr. 1994). In this case, albeit not necessarily in al
cases, the m sappropriation under 8657 was ai ded and i npl enent ed by

means of docunments placed in the records of Village which di sgui sed
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the true nature of the purchase of Unit 802.

In United States v. Faul kner, 17 F.3d 745, 771 (5th Cr.),
cert. denied, 115 S. C. 193 (1994), we found sufficient evidence to
convict an appraiser, not a bank official, of a 8657 violation
under an aiding and abetting theory. The appraiser had an
undi scl osed profit interest in certain property and prepared a
fal se appraisal used by a cooperating bank officer to justify a
| oan all ow ng sale of the property at a price that woul d assure the
appraiser a profit. Simlarly, in United States v. Kington, 875
F.2d 1091, 1103 (5th G r. 1989), we upheld the conviction of one
bank officer who "withheld objections to and informations about
(anot her bank officer's) unlawful loans in order to reap the
benefits of the continuing schene.”

In the instant case, while Parks and Mdss did not directly
make or authorize the appropriation of funds to purchase Unit 802,
there was sufficient evidence to support a jury finding that they

ai ded and abetted O Neal in commtting that offense.

B. Fal se Entri es

O Neal and Mdss chal l enge the sufficiency of the evidence to
support their convictions for making false entries. To establish
a violation of 18 U. S. C. 81006, the governnment nust show (1) that
the institution is a lending institution authorized and acting
under the laws of the United States; (2) the defendant was an
of ficer, agent, or enployee of the institution; (3) the defendant

knowi ngly and willfully nmade, or caused to be nade, a false entry
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concerning a material fact in a book, report, or statenent of the
institution; and (4) the defendant acted with intent to injure or
defraud the institution or any of its officers, auditors,
exam ners, or agents. Beuttennuller, 29 F.3d at 982; Tull os, 868
F.2d at 693-94. Material information is that which has the
capacity to inpair or pervert the functioning of the institution.
Beuttenmul ler, 29 F.3d at 982. A false entry can be either an
om ssion of material information or a m sstatenent. United States
v. MCord, 33 F.3d 1434, 1448 (5th Cr. 1994), cert. denied, 115
S.Ct. 2558 (1995). Nei t her defendant disputes the proof of
el ements one and two.

The "material" information in this case was P& I11l's
i nvol vement in the transaction, the om ssion of which had the
capacity to "pervert the functioning" of Village. As we have
previ ously discussed, there was evidence indicating that Mss and
O Neal deliberately arranged to prepare docunents show ng WD
rather than P&M 111 as the seller of Unit 802. |ndeed, Wellborn
testified that the discussion of that arrangenent occurred after
initial deeds had al ready been prepared, apparently inplying that
the transaction had first been structured directly between P&M I I 1
and Village. Village's treasurer testified that his file on Unit
802, which he considered conplete, contained only a closing
statenent reflecting a sale between WOD and Vil lage, wth a copy of
t he $300, 000. 00 check fromVillage to the title conpany. Fromthis
evidence, the jury could conclude that the Defendants caused an

om ssion of material information to exist in the Village files.
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Defendants point to a letter by Frank Ban, a investor in P&M
11, which was witten several nonths after the purchase of Unit
802 and which was placed in the Village file. The letter was
addressed to O Neal and forwarded honestead exenption information
forms. |In passing, the letter refers to a condom ni um purchased by
Village "fromParks and Moss II1." The letter refers to Unit 602
of the Park Square | Condom niuns, but presumably was intended to
refer to Unit 802. In any event, the timng of this letter, the
reason it was sent, and the fact that it was authored by a person
not an officer at Village would not necessarily negate the
conclusion that nonths earlier, in August 1984, Mss and O Neal
conspired to nake a false entry on the books of the institution.

The Defendants al so specul ate on the possible existence of a
mssing file for Unit 802, which m ght have contained information
revealing the connection between P&M |1l and the transaction.
There was no solid evidence, however, that any such file existed
and t here was evidence fromwhich a reasonable jury could find that
no such other file did exist.

O Neal and Modss also argue that the Governnent is
inperm ssibly using a civil violation as the basis for a crimnal
conviction. |Irrespective of any civil violations, the evidence in
this case supports the jury's finding that O Neal willfully omtted
a material fact wwth the intent to defraud the institution and the
auditors, a violation of 18 U S.C. 81006. Moss' conviction for

false entries is supported under an aiding and abetting theory.
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C. Conspi racy

Count One of the indictnent charged all three Defendants with
the crime of conspiracy in violation of 18 U S. C. 8371. The
indictnment alleged that the defendants conspired to commt two
separate offenses, msapplication of funds in violation of 18
US C 8656 and making false entries in Village's books in
violation of 18 U S.C. 81006. To establish a 8371 conspiracy, the
governnent nust prove, first, that two or nore people agreed to
pursue an unlawful objective; second, that each defendant
voluntarily agreed to join the conspiracy; and third, that one or
nmore menbers of the conspiracy perfornmed an overt act to further
the objectives of the conspiracy. Beuttenmuller, 29 F.3d at 978-
79. Wen a conspiracy to violate two statutes is alleged, the jury
may find the defendant guilty if the evidence establishes beyond a
reasonabl e doubt that the defendant conspired to viol ate either one
of the statutes. United States v. Lyons, 703 F.2d 815, 821 (5th
Cir. 1983).

In this appeal, the Defendants do not directly address the
conspiracy count other than to list the elenents under 8371 and
state that they challenge the sufficiency of the evidence. Based
on the evidence we have recited above, we find enough to support a
convi cti on under Count One.

L1l
Cl VI L BANKI NG REGULATI ONS
Al'l Defendants claim the trial court commtted reversible

error by admtting testinony that certain civil banking regul ati ons
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were violated.? Evidence of wviolations of civil banking
regul ati ons cannot be used to establish crimnal conduct. United
States v. Christo, 614 F.2d 486, 492 (5th Cr. 1980). Evidence of
such viol ations may, however, be admtted for the limted purpose
of showi ng the defendants' notive or intent to commt the crine
charged. See United States v. Cordell, 912 F.2d 769, 774-76 (5th
Cir. 1990). The trial court denied Defendants' pretrial notion in
limne to exclude evidence of the alleged bank regulation
viol ations, but limted use of the evidence to the issue of intent
or notive. W reviewatrial court's evidentiary rulings for abuse
of discretion. United States v. Brechtel, 997 F. 2d 1108, 1114 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, 114 S.C. 605 (1993).

Al three Defendants argue that the court erred in admtting
this evidence because there was no proof that they knew of the
regul ations. In response, the governnent points to the testinony
of two fornmer Village board directors regarding their own
famliarity with the regulations. The governnent argues that the
jury could infer that the Defendants were simlarly famliar with
the regulations. Also, Parks testified that, upon learning Vill age
was going to buy Unit 802, he asked O Neal whether they needed
board approval, and that he generally relied on O Neal's
famliarity with and know edge of the regulations. The testinony

of Wellborn that Mbss and O Neal discussed changing the structure

2 The "banking regulations" which Defendants allegedly
violated were 12 C.F. R 88563.41 (affiliated persons restrictions)
and 571.2 (conflict of interest), which at the tine were
regul ati ons of the Federal Hone Loan Bank Board.
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of the transaction to raise fewer questions by regulators also
supports a finding that they knew of the regulations. The tria
court did not abuse its discretion in admtting this evidence to
show i ntent.

Def endants also claimthat the court's adnoni shnments to the
jury did not cure the "repeated reference[s] to non-crim nal
m sconduct” which "infected the purpose of the trial." See, e.g.,
Christo, 614 F.2d at 492. The references nade during trial were:
(1) testinony that the board often di scussed conflicts of interest
and the need to nake disclosures to the board; (2) testinony that
Village contacted the FHLBB because the Unit 802 transaction was a
potential conflict of interest; (3) the testinony of WIIliam
Couhig, an examner wth the Ofice of Thrift Supervision,
regarding prohibitions against buying or selling from parties
affiliated with a savings and loan institution; and (4) severa
references to the foregoing testinony in the governnent's closing
ar gunent .

These ref erences to regul atory vi ol ati ons conpri se
approximately thirteen pages out of approximtely 700 pages of
trial transcript. At one point in the trial, the district court
told the jury that "[c]ivil charges are not charges that are
crimnal and they do not support crimnal charges. So don't get
m xed up between civil and crimnal." Inits closing argunent, the
governnent argued that while the civil regulations and viol ations

are not violations of the law . . . [the testinony] may be

hel pful for you in considering the notivation and intent to conmt
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the crinmes that are charged.” |In addition, in charging the jury,
the court stated:

Now, you have heard testinony that the failure to
di scl ose the sale of property by an affiliated person to
the financial institution my be a violation of civi
banking regulations. A violation of a civil statute or
regulation is not a crimnal offense. Such a violation
woul d nerely subject an institution or, in sone cases an
individual, to civil penalties which is not the sane as
a crine.

You nust not consider any evidence concerning civil

di scl osure regulations in deciding only if the defendant

commtted the acts charged in the indictnment. The only

reason that this evidence was admtted was for the

pur pose  of your determning if It aids your

determ nati on, whether the defendants had the intent and

purpose of violating the law as charged in the

i ndi ct nent . Before you nmay consider such reasonable

doubt fromother evidence in the case that the defendant

violated the law as charged in the indictnent. |[|f you

are so convinced, then this evidence may be consi dered by

you, if you believe it hel pful, in determ ni ng whet her or

not the defendant had a notive or intent to commt the

crinmes charged in the indictnent.
W conclude that the testinony regarding civil regulatory
violations did not inpermssibly infect the purpose of trial, and
the trial court did not abuse its discretionin permtting evidence
of the civil regul ations.

| V.
PREJUDI Cl AL PRE- | NDI CTMENT DELAY

Before trial, Defendants filed notions to dismss their
indictments on the ground that they had been prejudiced by the
governnent's eight-year delay in bringing charges, thereby
violating their due process rights. To prevail on these notions,

Defendants had to prove the threshold requirenent of actual
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prejudice.® United States v. Lovasco, 97 S.C. 2044, 2048-49
(1977); United States v. Beszborn, 21 F. 3d 62, 66 (5th Cr.), cert.
denied, 115 S. Ct. 330 (1994). The trial court denied the notions
because it had not "heard anything that conmes up to the |evel of
prejudice to the Defendants.™ Prejudice findings are reviewed
under the clear error standard. Beszborn, 21 F.3d at 66.

Def endants argue that the death of two potentially materi al
Wi tnesses in the eight-year gap between the Unit 802 sale and the
indictment prejudiced their cases. However, because these
W t nesses both died in 1985, before the investigation of the Unit
802 sal e even began, any delay in prosecuting this case did not
cause whatever prejudice resulted fromtheir deaths. Defendants
also contend that the death of the real estate appraiser who
performed the 1981 and 1982 apprai sals of Unit 802 prejudiced their
cases. These appraisals were admtted into evidence w thout any
challenge from the governnent, and we fail to discern any
prejudi ce. Defendants also argue that O Neal's recollection that
an appraisal of Unit 802 had been perfornmed in 1984 could not be

corroborated because the all eged apprai ser had purged his records

3 In its appellate brief, the governnment argued that the
Defendants were required to show both prejudice and deliberate
governnental delay to prevail. See United States v. Beszborn, 21
F.3d 62, 65-66 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 115 S. C. 330 (1994).
Wi |l e the appeal was pending, a panel of this Court held that the
defendants did not have to show deliberate governnental delay.
United States v. Crouch, 51 F.3d 480, 483 (5th Gr. 1995). Crouch
w Il now be heard en banc, so that the panel opinion currently has
no precedential value. United States v. Pineda-Otuno, 952 F.2d
98, 102 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 112 S C. 1990 (1992).
Nevert hel ess, since we find no prejudice fromthe delay in this
case, we do not reach the question of deliberate del ay.
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and had no independent recollection of perform ng that appraisal.
No other wtness recalled having heard of or seen such an
appraisal, and we conclude that the claim of prejudice is
specul ative, not actual. The Defendants al so conplain of m ssing
Executive Commttee neeting mnutes showi ng approval of the
acquisition of Unit 802, but the evidence did include a 1986 |l etter
from O Neal stating that he and Herb Axelrad approved the
transaction at a neeting that Parks did not attend and at which
Moss did not vote.

Lastly, Defendants point to the failing nenory of Wellborn
regarding the circunstances surrounding the preparation of the
docunents for the Unit 802 transaction. Her statenment before trial
was firm-that she was asked to change t he docunents to conceal the
P&M I'I'1 ownership. At trial she equivocated, claimng she did not
know if she actually heard that information from the Defendants
prior to the sale or whether the information canme only from
accusations nmade by others after the sale. After carefully
review ng her testinony, we conclude that her equivocation tended
to operate nore to the Defendants' advantage than to their
prej udi ce.

For the foregoing reasons, the convictions of all Defendants

are AFFI RVED
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